FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/15/2022 1:28 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/15/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101023-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82377-9-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

v.

BALLARD TERMINAL RAILROAD CO., L.L.C.,

Respondent.

CITY OF SEATTLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANN DAVISON
Seattle City Attorney
Patrick Downs,
WSBA No. 25276
Assistant City Attorney
SEATTLE CITY
ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
701 Fifth Avenue, #2050
Seattle, WA 98104-7097
Patrick.downs@seattle.gov

Clara Park,
WSBA No. 52255
Tadas A. Kisielius,
WSBA No. 28734
VAN NESS FELDMAN LLP
1191 Second Avenue, #1800

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal concerns the City of Seattle's ("City") efforts to construct the "Missing Link," the 1.4-mile gap of the Burke-Gilman Trail ("Trail") in the Ballard neighborhood. Twenty-five years ago, after months of protracted negotiations, the City and Ballard Terminal Railroad Company, L.L.C. ("BTRC") executed two contracts—the Operating Agreement and the Franchise—by which the City granted BTRC the right to operate the Ballard Line in City streets rent-free for thirty years, and in exchange, preserved the City's rights to complete the Trail and construct the Missing Link. Both contracts contained terms that obligated BTRC to relocate its rail facilities as needed to accommodate Trail construction.

In its decision, Division I recognized the City's undisputed and long-held intent to complete the Missing Link, but incorrectly concluded that neither contract preserved the City's right to require BTRC to relocate its facilities to accommodate the Missing Link's construction. Division I's rulings regarding

both contracts merit review because they are incorrect, conflict with precedent, and create ambiguity on issues of substantial public interest.

First, Division I ruled that the Franchise cannot require BTRC to accommodate the Missing Link based on the incorrect conclusion that federal law categorically preempts any enforcement of BTRC's contractual obligations to relocate its facilities. The Court's erroneous decision rested on an incorrect expansive interpretation of the type of railroad "construction" activities that are the subject of the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act of 1995 ("ICCTA"), 49 U.S.C. § 10101, et seq. Section 10501(b) of the ICCTA gives the federal Surface Transportation Board ("STB") exclusive jurisdiction over elements of rail transportation, including "construction," rules, routes, services, abandonment, and mergers and acquisitions of rail carriers and facilities. The sections following section 10501 specifically define the STB's jurisdiction over these matters, including section 10901, which defines the STB's jurisdiction over "construction." For nearly 100 years, the United States Supreme Court, the federal Courts of Appeals, and the STB and its predecessor entity have STB's consistently construed the jurisdiction over "construction" under section 10501 by reference to section 10901, consistent with canons of statutory interpretation. These precedents establish that the STB has exclusive jurisdiction over "construction" of rail line extensions or additions extending into new markets but does not have exclusive jurisdiction over all other construction activities, including minor relocations of rail facilities like those that are the subject of the Franchise.

Yet Division I refused to consider section 10901 or federal precedent and instead applied a broad layperson's understanding of the term "construction." Division I failed to adequately defer to federal precedent, particularly to the STB as the agency charged with implementing the ICCTA. Additionally, it created a new rule broadening the reach of preemption. If the decision remains as binding or persuasive precedent, it will likely negate

relocation rights throughout this state—a fundamental, common law right critical to constructing public improvements—and will likely negate other valuable contract rights.

Second, Division I's ruling that the Operating Agreement did not preserve the City's right to require BTRC to accommodate the Missing Link's construction ignored the "wellsettled principle that written instruments contemporaneously executed as part of the same transaction will be considered and construed as one transaction." Kruger v. Horton, 106 Wn.2d 738, 742, 725 P.2d 417 (1986). Contrary to this principle, Division I reached fundamentally inconsistent interpretations of the Operating Agreement and the Franchise. Disregarding the Franchise and other extrinsic evidence, the decision concluded that the Operating Agreement failed to preserve the City's rights to construct the Missing Link. This Court's review is needed to clarify the analytical framework for interpreting contemporaneous agreements.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City of Seattle petitions for review of the Published Opinion of Division I of the Court of Appeals, *City of Seattle v. Ballard Terminal R.R. Co.., L.L.C.*, No. 82377-9-I, 2022 WL 1535692 (Wash. Ct. App. May 16, 2022) ("Op."), which is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The ICCTA, under sections 10501(b) and 10901 and as confirmed by federal precedent, provides the STB with exclusive jurisdiction to issue certificates to permit the "construction" of rail line extensions or additional rail lines extending into new markets. Does the ICCTA's authority over such "construction" categorically preempt the railroad's contractual franchise agreement that requires the railroad to relocate a portion of its existing line to accommodate trail construction?
- 2. It is undisputed that the Operating Agreement and the Franchise were contemporaneous contracts executed to fulfill the parties' intent of completing the Trail. Can the Operating Agreement be construed in a manner that frustrates that intent by eliminating a fundamental right to the Trail's completion?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion sets forth the basic outline of the facts and procedure in this case. Op. at 2–7. However, certain points bear emphasis, particularly the facts relating to the relationship between the Operating Agreement and the Franchise.

The critical facts are as follows:

- In 1978, the City opened the first portions of the Trail over an abandoned rail line acquired from Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway Company ("BNSF"). CP 141–42.
- Over the following years, consistent with BNSF and the City's joint intent to complete the Trail, BNSF continued to abandon its rail lines for Trail development. CP 148–49.
- In the late 1990s, BNSF announced its intent to abandon the Ballard Line, and BTRC and the City conducted protracted negotiations to address the line's future. These negotiations resulted in the Operating Agreement and the Franchise. CP 154–55.
- The Operating Agreement and the Franchise govern the entirety of BTRC's operations and gave BTRC a 30-year right to operate and use City streets rent-free. CP 154–55.

¹ "BNSF" is used herein to refer to the present-day Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway and to its predecessor, Burlington Northern Railroad Company, which existed in 1971.

- It is undisputed that the parties intended to complete construction of the Trail, including the Missing Link. Op. at 14.
- When the parties executed the two contracts, the City had not yet determined a final route for the Missing Link. *Id*.
- The Operating Agreement and the Franchise contained parallel terms that gave the City broad and flexible rights to construct trails and other public improvements and contemplated the possibility of Trail construction near or along the Ballard Line. The Operating Agreement included the following terms:
 - The City's "right to require [BTRC] to relocate its track in order to accommodate trail construction," and the requirement that BTRC "shall promptly move its track at [the City's] written request" (CP 175);
 - o BTRC's obligation to "not engage in construction of rail or rail-related facilities which interfere with the trail to be constructed on the premises" (CP 175); and
 - The City's agreement that new trail facilities constructed along or near the Ballard Line shall comply with applicable regulations regarding separation from the centerline of rail facilities (CP 173).
- The Franchise mirrored the Operating Agreement and contained the following terms:
 - The City's reservation of the right to "construct all public improvements (*including trails*) . . . across, underneath or above the tracks" (CP 243 (emphasis added));

- The City's right to "full and complete right of access to any space occupied by such tracks and to all of said franchise right-of-way, together with the right to open and excavate the ground beneath said tracks, or within said franchise right-of-way, for all purposes of construction, maintenance, repair, operation and inspection" of any trails or public improvements (CP 243);
- o BTRC's agreement that it "shall, at its own cost and expense, remove, *relocate*, support, reinforce said tracks as necessary, provide flagging, and shall also furnish an authorized agent" to supervise the removal or relocation of tracks, also at BTRC's own cost and expense (CP 244 (emphasis added)); and
- The City's right to change the grade of any streets, and BTRC's agreement to "waive any and all damages that it may sustain on account of having to readjust its tracks by reason of such change of grade" (CP 244).

Division I concluded that while the Operating Agreement reserved the rights to build two ends of the Trail, the Operating Agreement left the City with no recourse to close the Missing Link in the middle. The decision also concluded that although the Franchise did provide the City with rights to construct the Missing Link, the ICCTA preempts the City's enforcement of those rights. The City respectfully seeks this Court's de novo review of that decision.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Standards of Review.

Issues of statutory interpretation and preemption are reviewed de novo. *Robertson v. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 102 Wn. App. 848, 853, 861, 10 P.3d 1079 (2000). "There is a strong presumption against finding preemption in an ambiguous case, and the burden of proof is on the party claiming preemption." *Inlandboatmen's Union of the Pac. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 119 Wn.2d 697, 702, 836 P.2d 823 (1992).

The statute at issue is the ICCTA, which is administered by the STB. The STB's interpretations of ambiguous provisions of ICCTA are entitled to "great weight." *City of Woodinville v. Eastside Cmty. Rail, LLC*, No. 82660-3-I, 2022 WL 1615552 at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. May 23, 2022).

Summary judgment rulings on contract interpretation are reviewed de novo. *Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 155 Wn. App. 133, 140, 229 P.3d 857, (2010), *aff'd*, 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011).

B. Division I's analysis of categorical preemption conflicts with appellate and federal decisions.

1. Division I failed to give deference to federal decisions analyzing categorical preemption.

The STB "was authorized by Congress to administer 49 U.S.C. § 10501 and is therefore uniquely qualified to determine whether state law should be preempted by 49 U.S.C. § 10501." *City of Woodinville*, 2022 WL 1615552 at *4 (quoting *Adrian & Blissfield R.R. Co. v. Vill. of Blissfield*, 550 F.3d 533, 539 (6th Cir. 2008)) (brackets and quotation marks omitted). In *City of Woodinville*, Division I recognized that, although STB decisions are not binding, the court "would be remiss to ignore the STB's explicit and consistent holdings" on preemption issues. *Id.* This deference is consistent with Washington courts' consistent practice of according "great weight" to an agency's interpretation of an ambiguous statute within the agency's expertise. *Id.*

Rather than applying and deferring to the STB and other federal authorities, the Court of Appeals below ignored case law, first developed by the Supreme Court of the United States and

applied by the STB's statutory predecessor, the Interstate Commerce Commission ("ICC"),² the STB, and federal courts. That case law construes the STB's exclusive jurisdiction over "construction" by reading 49 U.S.C §§ 10501 and 10901 together. Instead, as discussed below, the Court of Appeals interpreted section 10501 in isolation, without reference to the ICCTA's overall statutory scheme, and broadened the scope of categorical preemption³ contrary to the "strong presumption" against preemption. This approach fails to give proper weight to and creates a fundamental conflict with federal and Washington appellate decisions that warrants this Court's correction.

_

² The ICC regulated railroad transportation before the STB's creation. In December 1995, Congress adopted the ICCTA, which abolished the ICC and transferred certain of its functions to the newly created STB.

³ Courts and the Board use the terms categorical, express, and facial preemption interchangeably. *See Franks Inv. Co. LLC v. Union Pac. R.R. Co.*, 593 F.3d 404, 408–11 (5th Cir. 2010). For consistency, this brief will refer to categorical preemption.

2. Division I's decision creates ambiguity for lower courts.

Under rules of statutory construction, each provision of a statute should be read together with related provisions to determine the legislative intent underlying the entire statutory scheme. *State v. Chapman*, 140 Wn.2d 436, 448, 998 P.2d 282 (2000). Statutes on the same subject "will be read as complementary, instead of in conflict with each other." *Id.* Here, 49 U.S.C. §§ 10501 and 10901 relate to the STB's jurisdiction over "construction" and should be read together.

49 U.S.C. § 10501 provides that the STB has exclusive jurisdiction over "(1) transportation by rail carriers . . . ; and (2) the construction, acquisition, operation . . . [of] tracks, or facilities[.]" The ICCTA does not define "construction," but the meaning of "construction" in section 10501(b) is informed by section 10901, which further details the scope of the STB's jurisdiction and regulation over railroad construction or operation. 49 U.S.C. § 10901 states that STB authorization is required to "construct an *extension* to any . . . railroad line[]" or

to "construct an *additional* railroad line." By incorporating the meaning of "construction" used in section 10901, for almost 100 years, the U.S. Supreme Court, lower courts, the ICC, and the STB have consistently interpreted "construction" as applied in section 10501 as referring only to activity that enables a carrier to enter a new market.

The United States Supreme Court first explored the extent of exclusive federal jurisdiction over "construction" in *Railroad Commission v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 264 U.S. 331 (1924), where the Court opined that "*mere relocation* of a main track of an interstate carrier which does not involve a real addition to, or abandonment of, main tracks and terminals, or a substantial change in destination" would not fall within the jurisdiction of the ICC. *Id.* At 345 (emphasis added). Two years later, the Court crystallized this interpretation in *Texas & Pacific Railway Co. v. Gulf, Colorado & Santa Fe Railway Co.* ("*Texas & Pacific*"), 270 U.S. 266, 277–78 (1926), when it held that Congress's concern and intent to regulate railroad "construction" only

applied "where the proposed trackage extends into territory not theretofore served by the carrier, and particularly where it extends into territory already served by another carrier." *Id.* at 277–78. Accordingly, only construction of extensions into new markets were subject to the ICC's jurisdiction. *Id.*; *see also Detroit/Wayne Cnty. Port Auth. v. ICC*, 59 F.3d 1314, 1316–17 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (applying *Texas & Pacific* and affirming the ICC's conclusion that it lacked jurisdiction over relocation of existing facilities within an existing market).

Although the Supreme Court's decisions applied a predecessor statute to the ICCTA, that distinction makes no difference here. The STB, interpreting the ICCTA, has cited and applied the *Texas & Pacific* test to determine whether railroad construction projects fall within its exclusive jurisdiction. For example, in *Union Pac. Railroad Co.—Pet. for Declaratory Order—Rehab. Of Mo.-Kan.-Tex. Railroad between Jude & Ogden Junction, Tex.* 3 S.T.B. 646, 1998 WL 525587 (STB Aug. 19, 1998), the Board "declare[d] that it does not have jurisdiction

over" a railroad's addition of a 16.7-mile mainline that did not extend into new markets. *Id.* at *4; *see also Valley Feed Co. v. Greater Shenandoah Valley Dev. Co. d/b/a Shenandoah Valley R.R. Co.*, STB 41068, 1998 WL 857071, at *7 (STB Nov. 30, 1998) (applying *Texas & Pacific* and concluding that construction activities were non-jurisdictional); *CSX Transp., Inc.—Pet. for Declaratory Order*, No. FD 33388 (Sub-101), 2008 WL 3971091, at *5 (STB Aug. 26, 2008) (declining to preempt or regulate construction of multi-building complex over and adjacent to rail line).

Interpreting 49 U.S.C. §§ 10501 and 10901 together is not only consistent with federal precedent but also with the ICCTA's statutory scheme. 49 U.S.C. § 10501 generally establishes the STB's exclusive jurisdiction over matters such as rates, classifications, rules, practices, and the acquisition, abandonment, or discontinuance of facilities. The subsequent sections specifically define the scope of the STB's jurisdiction over these activities. 49 U.S.C. Chapter 107 discusses the STB's

jurisdiction over rates, classifications, rules, and practices. 49 U.S.C. §§ 11321 to 11328 discusses the STB's jurisdiction over mergers and acquisition of carriers or facilities. 49 U.S.C. §§ 10903 to 10905 discusses the STB's jurisdiction over the abandonment or discontinuance of rail lines. Specific statutes prevail over general statutes. O.S.T. ex rel. G.T. v. BlueShield, 181 Wn.2d 691, 701, 335 P.3d 416 (2014). The statutes that follow section 10501 and that specifically define the STB's jurisdiction prevail over section 10501's general jurisdiction provisions. These specific grants of authority to the STB recognize that it oversees the economic regulation of railroads; a new line of railroad, or an extension of an existing line, may implicate those grants of authority, but a mere relocation of an existing line within the same market does not implicate those grants of authority.

Division I's decision correctly recognized that "[t]he cases to which Seattle cites indicate that the STB['s] authorization is not required for the relocation of tracks." Op. at 11. But what

Division I failed to recognize is that categorical preemption arises from the STB's exclusive jurisdiction over an action or operation. Franks Inv. Co. LLC v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 593 F.3d 404, 408–10 (5th Cir. 2010) (discussing preemption based on the scope of the STB's exclusive jurisdiction). In other words, Division I's acknowledgment that STB authorization is not required for the minor relocation of tracks in this matter is also determinative of the question of categorical preemption. The STB's consistent rulings that it has no authority to regulate or otherwise exercise jurisdiction over track relocations within an existing market means that such track relocations are not subject to the STB's exclusive jurisdiction, and that actions affecting such relocations are, therefore, not categorically preempted by the ICCTA.

To be clear, this conclusion does not mean that a party could relocate a railroad's tracks anywhere it pleases. A second

type of preemption, "as applied" preemption, applies when an action is not categorically preempted under the ICCTA but has the effect of preventing or "unreasonably interfering" with railroad transportation. Adrian & Blissfield R.R. Co. v. Vill. of Blissfield, 550 F.3d 533, 540 (6th Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks omitted). The STB and the courts analyze "as applied" preemption when the regulatory action at question warrants a fact-specific analysis. Id. at 541-42 (concluding that state statutes requiring railroads to construct or pay for and maintain pedestrian railroad crossings were not unreasonably burdensome and not preempted, categorically or as applied); *Union Pac. R.R.* Co. v. Chicago Transit Auth., 647 F.3d 675, 679-80 (7th Cir. 2011) (concluding that condemnation actions require an "as applied" analysis, not a categorical analysis, because each action requires a fact-specific analysis of the case and specific property). Track relocation requires a fact-specific "as applied"

⁴ "As applied" preemption is also referred to as implied preemption. *Franks Inv.*, 593 F.3d at 413.

analysis—relocating five feet of track has a different effect than relocating five miles of track—and the failure to apply that analysis here conflicts with established federal precedent.⁵

In sum, there is at least a fact question as to whether track relocation is preempted as applied. Division I's resolution of this issue as a matter of law conflicts with precedent and creates ambiguity about the application and breadth of categorical preemption, and thus merits review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b).

C. Division I's interpretation of this Court's decision in City of Seattle v. Burlington Northern Railroad Co. merits review.

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