FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/18/2022 3:16 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1010231

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Petitioner,

v.

BALLARD TERMINAL RAILROAD CO., L.L.C.,

Respondent.

PRAECIPE REGARDING BALLARD TERMINAL RAILROAD CO., L.L.C.'S ANSWER TO CITY OF SEATTLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Patrick J. Schneider, WSBA No. 11957
Foster Garvey PC
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 447-4400
pat.schneider@foster.com

Joshua C. Allen Brower, WSBA No. 25092 Brower Law PS 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, WA 98101 206-498-1804 josh@browerlawps.com

Attorneys for Respondent Ballard Terminal Railroad Co., L.L.C.

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Seattle Cannot Meet the Standard in RAP 13.4 to Obtain Review.</u>

"To obtain discretionary review in this court, [Seattle] must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals Decision conflicts with a decision of this court or with a published Court of Appeals decision, or that [the City] is raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest, RAP 13.4(b)," 8 none of which it has done. Instead of showing how it meets the RAP 13.4 standards warranting review, Seattle is attempting to relitigate its losses in the Superior and Appellate Courts by rehashing arguments already twice considered and rejected.

B. Responding to Seattle's Argument B.1

Seattle's argument B.1 does not identify which subsection of RAP 13.4(b) it seeks to satisfy, and in fact no subsection of the Rule is implicated by Seattle's argument.

Seattle argues that Division I's decision is in "conflict" with the decisions of the Surface Transportation Board ("STB") and the Federal courts, but a conflict with Federal law is not a ground for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

The Federal cases that Seattle cites also are inapposite. They are

⁸ Matter of Williams, 197 Wash. 2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445, 446 (2021).

⁹ Matter of Arnold, 190 Wash. 2d 136, 152–53, 410 P.3d 1133, 1141 (2018).

cases involving railroads *voluntarily* trying to move/relocate tracks, *not* being forced to do so by a local government applying a local law. ¹⁰

Or they are old cases that interpret Federal law as it existed before 1995, ¹¹ when Congress enacted the Interstate Commerce Commission Termination Act of 1995 ("ICCTA"), 49 U.S.C. § 10101, *et seq.*, and created the STB, and thus do not reflect Congress' intent to further consolidate railroad regulation in the STB by preempting local laws. Modern case law interpreting and applying the ICCTA shows Seattle's argument is meritless. ¹²

This Court in *Seattle v. BNSF* analyzed the consequences of the enactment of the ICCTA, concluding:

When the *ICCTA* was adopted in 1996, the federal regulatory scheme for interstate railroad operations was 'changed significantly.' 'The purpose of the Act was to ... significantly reduce regulation of surface transportation industries.' *The ICCTA placed with the STB* " 'complete jurisdiction, to the exclusion of the states, over the regulations of railroad operations.' "13

And went on to state:

¹⁰ E.g., Detroit/Wayne Cnty. Port Auth. v. I.C.C., 59 F.3d 1314 (Port authority challenged railroad's plan to build new tunnel); Union Pac. R.R. Co., 1998 WL 525587 (Railroad voluntarily sought reactivation of abandoned line to meet surge in construction demand); CSX Transp., Inc., 2008 WL 3971091 (Private easement agreement).

¹¹ Petition, pages 13 and 14 *citing Texas & P. Ry. Co.* and *Railroad Comm'n of California*, which predate the ICCTA by nearly 70 years.

¹² E.g., Friberg v. Kansas City S. Ry. Co. 267 F.3d 439, 440 (5th Cir. 2001) ("The language of the statute could not be more precise, and it is beyond peradventure that regulation of train operations, as well as the construction and operation of the tracks, is under the exclusive jurisdiction of the STB unless some other provision in the ICCTA provides otherwise.")(emphasis added).

¹³ 145 Wash. 2d 661, 665–66, 41 P.3d 1169, 1171 (2002)(emphasis added).

The express language of the ICCTA imparts to the STB broad federal authority over all interstate and intrastate railroad activities and operations. The FRSA preempts local regulations that impact interstate and intrastate railroad safety. The City's ordinance that reserves to it the authority to control railroad activities that interfere with city traffic is subject to preemption under the ICCTA and the FRSA. ¹⁴

This Court rejected Seattle's arguments twenty years ago regarding Federal preemption of local law, and even if this Court had not done so, alleging a conflict with Federal law is not a ground for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

C. Responding to Seattle's Argument B.2

Seattle's argument in Section B.2 concludes by citing RAP 13.4(b) for the first time at page 19, but Seattle *still does not cite* to a specific subsection, and its argument is not relevant to any standard for discretionary review in those subsections.

Instead, Seattle makes a statutory construction argument about two provisions of the ICCTA, 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b) and § 10901, in an effort to create an issue of fact regarding "as-applied preemption." Petition at 19.

Division I correctly concluded that 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b) grants broad and exclusive jurisdiction to the STB to regulate nearly all facets of railroad operation, whereas 49 U.S.C. § 10901(a) requires a STB-

-

¹⁴ 145 Wash. 2d at 674 (2002).

regulated railroad to obtain a permit in certain circumstances including extending a railroad line into new territory. Division I then applied this distinction to undisputed facts:

Neither Seattle nor BTRC is seeking a certificate to authorize the relocation of tracks—instead, Seattle is seeking to use its governmental authority to require BTRC to relocate its tracks. This is the kind of local regulation that is not permitted by 49 U.S.C. § 10501(b). The cases to which Seattle cites indicate that the STB authorization is not required for the relocation of tracks. *However, they do not establish that Seattle may use its governmental authority to require this relocation*. ¹⁵

And in footnote 5, the Court of Appeals specifically rejected Seattle's "as applied" argument:

Seattle also contends that the superior court improperly analyzed the categorical preemption claim as an "as applied" claim and made factual assessments about the effect of Seattle's proposal on BTRC. Seattle is correct that an as applied preemption claim involves questions of fact, including about the impact of the relocation on the railroad, that the parties agreed were not before the court on summary judgment. However, because our review is de novo and there is no dispute of material fact relevant to our determination that the franchise is categorically preempted, we need not address this issue. ¹⁶

Seattle is simply repeating arguments rejected for good reason by both the trial court and Division I, but even if Seattle were correct, disagreements about the construction of Federal statutes and an asserted issue of fact regarding as-applied Federal preemption are not standards for

- 7 -

¹⁵ City of Seattle v. Ballard Terminal R.R. Co., L.L.C., 509 P.3d 844, 851 (Div. 1, 2022) (emphasis added).

¹⁶ *Id.* at 851 n.5.

discretionary review.

To obtain review, the question is not whether Division I properly interpreted and applied Federal case law or a statue as Seattle asserts in this argument, but whether Division I's decision *conflicts* with a decision of this Court or of another appellate court division, which showing is completely absent.

D. Responding to Seattle Argument C.

Seattle's Section C argument does not identify which subsection of RAP 13.4(b) is at issue, but it necessarily is subsection 13.4(b)(1) because Seattle asserts that Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's 2002 decision involving a similar Seattle franchise in *Seattle v. BNSF*, where this Court held that a franchise is a law that can be preempted like any local law:

Here, the City's claim that it is entitled to regulate based upon its franchise ordinance is not persuasive. Burlington concedes that it operates under a franchise agreement under Ordinance No. 9119, which was passed in 1903. The agreement is nonetheless an ordinance--that is, a law. Like any state law, a local ordinance is subject to Congressional preemption.¹⁷

Seattle attempts to get around this holding by repeatedly asserting, contrary to the record, that BTRC's Franchise was "negotiated" and therefore is not a law subject to preemption, e.g.: "this Franchise emerged

¹⁷ 145 Wash. 2d at 673.

from months of negotiations . . ." Petition at 21.

Nothing in the record supports such assertions. The record instead demonstrates that the Operating Agreement was negotiated and Seattle refused to negotiate the Franchise as Seattle's then-franchise attorney confirmed in 1997:

...I note that you are asking for changes to the City's franchise boilerplate. I am not authorized to negotiate changes to the City's franchise ordinance....¹⁸

In *Seattle v. BNSF*, this Court confirmed that a railroad franchise is a law subject to preemption like any other law, and Division I applied this holding to the similar railroad Franchise in this case. Seattle claims that in doing so Division I created a "bright-line rule," but the only bright line is the one that is inherent in our legal system: local laws, which include franchises, are subject to preemption by State and Federal laws.

Seattle also claims that Division I somehow "did not properly rely on" *Seattle v. BNSF* because it is somehow "distinguishable," Petition at 23, from the current case. Being "distinguishable" is not one of the required standards to obtain review pursuant to RAP 13.4.

Seattle cannot obtain discretionary review by mischaracterizing the record: the Franchise was *granted*, not negotiated, which Seattle's thenattorney confirmed in 1997. Seattle's extended discussion of how

¹⁸ CP 2458 (emphasis added).

voluntary agreements cannot be preempted is irrelevant. There is no evidence in the record that BTRC *voluntarily* agreed to waive its rights and protections under federal law; and this Court's ruling that a franchise is a law subject to preemption controls.

E. Responding to Seattle Argument D.

Seattle's recent public statements – that it can complete the Missing Link without relocating BTRC's railroad tracks – refute its claim in Argument D that this Court should grant review because this case somehow involves an issue of "substantial public interest." Seattle's statements include, for example:

The <u>design refinements</u> adjust the project to meet changing conditions along the corridor, *such as eliminating the need to relocate railroad tracks* and minor changes to reduce the amount of paving needed.¹⁹

Seattle has publicly confirmed it intends to complete the Missing Link *without* having to remove and relocate BTRC's railroad, and it cannot base a claim of "substantial public interest" on the pros and cons of the Missing Link itself.

And Seattle's claim that the Division I Decision "could deprive all governments in this state of the right to exercise any relocation rights under any franchise agreement with any railroad," Petition, page 24, is

- 10 -

¹⁹ https://sdotblog.seattle.gov/2021/11/01/levy-dollars-at-work-refined-burke-gilman-trail-missing-link-design-allows-us-to-move-this-safety-project-forward-and-resume-construction-as-soon-as-next-year/

specious. It is this Court's decision in *Seattle v. BNSF* that determined the nature and extent of Federal preemption of railroad franchises, not Division I's application of such preemption to an almost-identical Franchise here.

F. Responding to Seattle's Argument E.

Despite finally citing to RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2), Petition at 27-28, Seattle again fails to provide a citation to an appellate decision that conflicts with Division I's decision.

Instead, Seattle mischaracterizes the decision by claiming that Division I "declined to apply [certain principles of] contract interpretation...to the Operating Agreement and Franchise ..." and instead "...determined that the Franchise was not a contract for purposes of applying [these] principle[s]." Petition at page 26.

But Division I actually said:

Here, although the operating agreement and franchise ordinance are related to the same transaction, the terms of the franchise ordinance may not be read into the operating agreement. Seattle's argument that we must interpret the franchise ordinance and operating agreement together relies on case law involving two contracts. Seattle cites no case suggesting that the terms of a preempted ordinance should be read into a valid contract. Furthermore, even if the franchise ordinance may " 'assist[] in determining the meaning intended to be expressed by" the operating agreement, the terms that give Seattle the unequivocal right to make BTRC relocate its tracks are part of the franchise ordinance, not the operating agreement. Contrary to Seattle's argument, it is not a contradictory reading of the two documents to note that the franchise ordinance states something that the operating agreement does not. Therefore, the franchise

ordinance's provisions do not require a different reading of the operating agreement.²⁰

In so ruling, Division I correctly determined that the Franchise included terms the Operating Agreement did not; that those terms were preempted by federal law; and that those terms could not be unilaterally read into the Operating Agreement because there is no case law, precedent or requirement to do so.

The only case Seattle cites, *Burns v. City of Seattle*, Petition at 27, does not conflict with Division I's decision. The *Burns* case says that a franchise is a contract that can be granted, not compelled. ²¹ That conclusion does not conflict with this Court's determination in *Seattle v. BNSF* that a franchise *also* is a law subject to federal preemption. Moreover, the franchises at issue in *Burns* related to Seattle's provision of electricity to other municipalities, which is not an area of law preempted by Federal law. This Court in *Seattle v. BNSF* and Division I in this case correctly concluded that Seattle cannot use a local franchise to regulate a railroad because that is an area of regulation Congress reserved in the ICCTA to the STB. There is no conflict with *Burns*.

²⁰ 509 P.3d at 851 (Div. 1, 2022) (internal citations omitted; emphasis added).

²¹ Burns v. City of Seattle, 161 Wash. 2d 129, 142, 164 P.3d 475, 482 (2007)("Indeed, a franchise is a contract. A city has statutory authority to "grant" a franchise, not to "require" one.").

BTRC's PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

BTRC's anti-SLAPP claim because that decision, relying on Division III's decision in *Emmerson v. Weilep*, ²² conflicts with this Court's recent decision in *Leishman v. Ogden Murphy Wallace*, *PLLC*. ²³ Both Division I and III interpreted RCW 4.24.510 to require a "civil action for damages" as a prerequisite to maintaining an anti-SLAPP claim where no such prerequisite exists in Section .510 and where the judicial imposition of such a condition is contrary to the public policy of the statute, as explained at length in this Court's analysis in *Leishman*. Review is thus proper pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review also is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4) because the Division I and III cases raise significant questions of law under Washington's Constitution and involve issues of substantial public interest by narrowing the scope and applicability of Washington's anti-SLAPP statute. RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4).

II. ISSUES

A. Whether Division I's and III's decisions conflict with this Court's decisions by creating a "civil action for damages" prerequisite in RCW 4.24.510 where none exists and where this Court has never

²² 126 Wash. App. 930, 937, 110 P.3d 214 (Div. 3, 2005).

²³ 196 Wash. 2d 898, 904, 479 P.3d 688, 692 (2021), reconsideration denied (Aug. 19, 2021), as amended (Aug. 19, 2021).

required one? RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Whether Division I's and III's decisions raise significant questions of law under Washington's Constitution and involve issue of substantial public interest by narrowing the scope and applicability of Washington's anti-SLAPP by creating a "civil action for damages" barrier to obtaining the broad immunity granted by RCW 4.24.510? RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Seattle overreached when it sued BTRC to enjoin and restrain BTRC from exercising its Constitutional right to oppose the Missing Link before the STB and in the courts.

After BTRC filed a Petition with the STB asking it to preemptively bar Seattle from forcing BTRC to remove and relocate its railroad tracks, Seattle convinced the STB that resolution of that issue turned on issues of state contract law, leading the STB to hold BTRC's Petition in abeyance while those state-law issues were resolved.²⁴ Seattle then sued BTRC in Superior Court seeking to enjoin and restrain BTRC from pursuing its claims.

²⁴ CP 2179 ("Issues involving federal preemption can be decided either by the Board or the courts in the first instance. It is possible, therefore, that the [King County Superior] court will address preemption after it resolves the contract dispute.")(internal citations omitted; emphasis added).

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